# Comprehensive Tobacco Control Funding

for the

# State of Georgia

A Proposal by the Georgia Tobacco Task Force

9/02/2008

The following document outlines a recommendation plan for the Georgia Division of Public Health to allocate Master Settlement Agreement appropriations for the upcoming fiscal year to augment Tobacco Control programming throughout the state. Task Force members and their representative organizations are noted for identification purposes; however, the conclusions of the report do not necessarily represent the official positions of the organizations.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
BACKGROUND	5
THE HEALTH AND ECONOMIC BURDEN OF TOBACCO USE IN GEORGIA	5
EVIDENCE-BASED TOBACCO CONTROL STRATEGIES	6
GEORGIA TOBACCO CONTROL FUNDING: THE PAST AND PRESENT	7
RECOMMENDED PROGRAMS AND POLICIES	9
PROGRAMS	9
STATE AND COMMUNITY INTERVENTIONS	9
HEALTH COMMUNICATION INTERVENTIONS	10
CESSATION INTERVENTIONS	11
SURVEILLANCE AND EVALUATION	12
ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT	12
POLICIES	13
MEDICAID REIMBURSEMENT	13
TOBACCO TAX INCREASE	13
CLEAN INDOOR AIR LAW	14
BUDGET AND IMPLEMENTATION COSTS	15
SUMMARY	15
REFERENCES	16
GEORGIA TOBACCO TASK FORCE MEMBERS	17

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

If current patterns of smoking are not reduced in Georgia, CDC has projected that 184,000 youth currently aged 0-17 in the state will die prematurely from smoking. Each year, over 10,000 Georgians die from a tobacco-related death, resulting in more than 183,000 years of life lost which costs the state over \$3.3 billion in lost productivity. Additionally, CDC estimates that for each of these premature deaths caused by smoking, another 20 Georgians are living with a serious medical illness caused by smoking. Together these premature deaths and over 200,000 Georgians living with serious illnesses caused by smoking result in over \$1.8 billion healthcare costs each year. But the disease, death, and economic burden from tobacco use can be reduced by funding a comprehensive tobacco control program based upon the CDC recommendations.

Even though Georgians smoke at about the same rate as the national average, Georgians suffer disproportionately from tobacco-related diseases. Approximately 90 percent of lung cancer is caused by tobacco smoke and Georgia's lung cancer death rates are substantially above the national average. In fact, lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer deaths, killing more Georgians than breast, colon, prostate and pancreatic cancer combined. At the same time tobacco use is taking a deadly toll on Georgia citizens, scientific understanding of ways to reduce tobacco use has greatly advanced. Over the last ten years, rigorous scientific studies have unequivocally demonstrated that a state investment in evidence-based tobacco interventions will not only reduce tobacco use, but will also reduce the burden of diseases caused by smoking, and most recently have shown an actual reduction in overall health care expenditures of approximately 7 percent.

While the evidence is accumulating that investment in tobacco control programs reduces smoking, disease and costs, the commitment to tobacco control has declined by over 90 percent over the last few years, despite the fact that Master Settlement Agreement funding has increased. Given these facts, the Director of the Division of Public Health requested Georgia State University's Institute of Public Health to establish a Tobacco Task Force to make recommendations on the appropriate level of funding for tobacco control and to suggest an expenditure plan. During August of 2008 a Task Force was assembled consisting of representatives from federal, state and local health agencies, voluntary associations, non-profit advocacy groups and academic partners to review the current literature and to make recommendations for approximately \$20 million of Master Settlement Agreement funding. The Task Force provides these recommendations in the following pages and notes that a \$20 million investment is substantially less than the \$116.5 million investment recommended by CDC, but represents an amount that will dramatically advance tobacco control efforts in Georgia and will result in demonstrable reductions in tobacco use.

Following the CDC guidelines, the Task Force recommends the following level of expenditures for tobacco control in Georgia:

Specific Programs	Recommended Budget (in millions)
State and Community Interventions	\$ 8.5
Health Communication Interventions	\$ 4.5
Cessation Interventions	\$ 4
Surveillance and Evaluation	\$ 2
Administration and Management	\$ 1
Total	\$ 20

In addition to detailing the optimal way of investing \$20 million to reduce tobacco use in Georgia, the Task Force also made three policy recommendations for further accelerating the reduction of tobacco use in the state and that would position Georgia as a public health leader among Southern states. Specifically, the Task Force recommends:

- 1. Increase the cigarette excise tax by \$1 to a total of \$1.37, consistent with the recommendations of the Georgia Cancer Plan.
- 2. Provide nicotine replacement therapy for Medicaid patients and utilize the Federal match that is being used by 43 other states.
- 3. Strengthen the current Clean Indoor Air law to prohibit smoking in all public places, assuring clean indoor air for the approximate 10% or restaurants and bars that continue to allow smoking.

The Task Force is convinced that a major financial investment in tobacco control that builds upon the scientific evidence established over the last 10 years will result in a demonstrable reduction in tobacco use, tobacco deaths and health care expenditures. The success of the program is not only dependent upon a significant financial investment, but also upon strong leadership within the state, and a competent and accountable management structure. Georgia has the expertise in the state to establish an exemplary model program and one that will serve as a model for other southern states. It is our hope that the recommendations provided in this report will advance Georgia's effort to protect the health of the public in a scientific and cost effective manner.

#### **BACKGROUND**

# The Health and Economic Burden of Tobacco Use in Georgia

Approximately 1.3 million adults in Georgia smoked cigarettes in 2007, with high rates of use found among those with less than a high education and those living in rural counties in the northwest and southeast regions of the state. In Georgia, 59% of current adult smokers tried to quit smoking in the past year; however national data shows that only about 4.7% of people who make a quit attempt maintain abstinence for at least 3 months. In Georgia each year, 10,000 adults die and 183,000 life years are lost due to tobacco-related diseases, including several cancers (40% of deaths), cardiovascular disease (35% of deaths), and respiratory disease (25% of deaths). Of all diseases, lung cancer accounts for greatest percentage (79%) of all tobacco-related cancer deaths in Georgia, with African-American men having higher mortality rates and African-American women being diagnosed with more new cases of lung cancer than their white counterparts. The fact is more Georgians die from lung cancer caused by smoking than from breast, colon, prostate, and pancreatic cancer combined. Additionally, CDC estimates that for each of these premature deaths caused by smoking, another 20 Georgians are living with a serious medical illness caused by smoking. Reducing the burden of cancer in Georgia cannot be accomplished without reducing tobacco use.

Tobacco use is also a significant public health concern for young people in Georgia. Approximately 18,000 middle school and 73,000 high school students smoked in 2006, and their non-smoking peers are disproportionately exposed to secondhand smoke. If current patterns of smoking are not reduced in Georgia, CDC has projected that 184,000 youth currently aged 0-17 in the state will die prematurely from smoking. While the majority has expressed an interest in quitting, very few middle (4%) and high (10%) school smokers have participated in a program to help them quit using tobacco at some time in their lives. Among nonsmoking youths, over a third of middle and nearly half high school students were reportedly exposed to secondhand tobacco smoke in the home. Similar to adults, Georgian youth face a wide range of health consequences as a result of direct tobacco use or exposure to secondhand smoke, including respiratory illnesses (impaired lung growth, asthma, chronic coughing, and wheezing), ear infections, and premature death. Evidence from a large number of states has documented that when adequately funded, statewide tobacco prevention and control programs reduce rates of youth starting to smoke, adults successfully quitting, and nonsmokers exposed to secondhand smoke.

In addition to health burden, tobacco use significantly contributes to economic burden in the state of Georgia. Together these premature deaths and over 200,000 Georgians living with serious illnesses caused by smoking result in over \$1.8 billion healthcare costs each year and \$3.3 billion in lost productivity costs. The estimated annual household state and federal tax burden from smoking-related government expenditures is \$538. But the disease, death, and economic burden from tobacco use can be reduced by funding a comprehensive tobacco control program based upon the CDC recommendations. The research evidence has shown that the more a state invests in a comprehensive tobacco control program, the greater the reductions in youth and

adult smoking rates, and that the longer this investment is maintained, the greater and faster the impact is seen. Without state-based funding, tobacco use can potentially contribute to significant health burdens for youth, the less-educated, certain racial/ethnic minorities, and some rural communities in Georgia and statewide economic hardship in terms healthcare costs and lost productivity.

# **Evidence-Based Tobacco Control Strategies**

The tobacco epidemic could be stopped. Evidence-based, statewide tobacco control programs that are comprehensive, sustained, and accountable have been shown to reduce smoking rates, tobacco-related deaths, and diseases caused by smoking.<sup>8,9</sup>

Independently, the Office of the Surgeon General, the U.S. Task Force for Community Preventive Services, the National Cancer Institute, the Institute of Medicine, and the President's Cancer Panel have each published recommendations supporting the importance and effectiveness of comprehensive tobacco prevention and control programs and policies.<sup>7, 10-13</sup> In addition, the IOM's Committee on Reducing Tobacco Use concluded that to be effective, "states must maintain over time a comprehensive integrated tobacco control strategy." Their lead recommendation was that each state fund tobacco control activities at the level recommended by the CDC, with the estimate that a state's reasonable target was in the range of \$15 to \$20 per capita, depending on the state's population, demography, and prevalence of tobacco use. For Georgia, the CDC recommended annual investment is \$12.44 per capita or \$116.5 million in 2007 dollars.

Multi-component intervention efforts that integrate programs and policy show greater effectiveness in influencing social norms, systems, and networks. The more states spend on sustained comprehensive tobacco control programs, the greater the reductions in smoking—and the longer states invest in such programs, the greater and faster the impact. Additionally, a dose-response relationship exists between support for comprehensive programs and behavior outcomes. States that have made larger investments in comprehensive tobacco control programs have seen cigarette sales drop more than twice as much as in the United States as a whole, and smoking prevalence among adults and youth has declined faster as spending for tobacco control programs increased. California, for example, has demonstrated that their state program spent \$1.8 billion but saved \$86 billion in personal healthcare costs in its first 15 years. The savings were formulated by projecting that 3.6 billion packs of cigarettes (worth \$9.2 billion to the tobacco industry) between 1989 and 2004, the implementation period of the California Tobacco Control Program.

The states with the best funded and most sustained tobacco prevention and control programs have been shown to increase the number of smokers quitting and to decrease the number of youth who start smoking. The Partnership for Prevention ranks tobacco use screening and interventions as one of the three most effective, cost-saving clinical preventive services.<sup>22</sup> In California, the sustained program has resulted in a significant decline in cigarette consumption that has been associated with a \$86 billion lower level of health care expenditures from 1989 to 2004.<sup>23</sup>

# Georgia Tobacco Control Funding: The Past and Present

# Historical Perspective

The mission of the Tobacco Use Prevention Program (TUPP) within the Georgia Division of Public Health is to coordinate strategies for tobacco use prevention and control, provide assistance on policy development, and serve as a resource center for tobacco issues. The program adopted the national philosophy of changing environmental factors to reduce tobacco use.

Prior to the Master Settlement Agreement (MSA) in 1998, the Georgia Division of Public Health (DPH) established the building blocks for a broader and more comprehensive tobacco prevention and control program. DPH has been directly involved in tobacco use prevention and control activities since 1990, when a nicotine patch cessation effort was conducted in county public health clinics. Shortly afterwards, DPH received both a Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Project IMPACT tobacco use prevention program planning grant and a Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJFF) capacity-building award. These two grants formed the core of the Division's Tobacco Use Prevention Program (TUPP).

The CDC and RWJF funding spurred the development of the statewide tobacco prevention coalition, CHARGe (Coalition for a Healthy and Responsible Georgia), formed in 1993. By the time MSA funding was attained, CHARGe had grown to 14 program and policy partners and a network of over 500 organizations and individuals at both the state and local levels. In addition, several local CHARGe coalitions emerged furthering the overall state effort. CHARGe was initially housed within DPH. In December 1996, the Southeast Division of the American Cancer Society (ACS) became the lead agency for the Georgia Robert Wood Johnson Smokeless States grant, and assumed fiscal and management responsibility for CHARGe. DPH and ACS formed the backbone for CHARGe efforts as the coalition expanded. The coalition served as a forum for developing and carrying out strategies that focus on protecting people from secondhand smoke, preventing tobacco use among youth, and encouraging people who smoke to quit. CHARGe's focal policy areas were: smoke-free indoor air; preventing youth access to tobacco products; increasing excise tax on tobacco products; and reducing the advertising and promotion of tobacco products. Shortly after its establishment, CHARGe embarked on a major youth initiative creating Youth In CHARGe (YIC) in 1996. This was a collaborative effort of CHARGe, Egleston Children's Healthcare (now Children's Healthcare of Atlanta) and ACS.

In 1998, with the MSA, more funds became available for tobacco prevention and control efforts. CDC funding increased beyond planning grant levels and American Legacy Foundation, funded by the MSA, began awarding grants. Activities expanded to include surveillance and evaluation, counter-marketing, community interventions in four local public health districts, and program policy efforts. Six more health districts were added to the community intervention component in 1999, expanding intervention activities to a total of 30 communities, in 10 health districts.

DPH worked closely with the American Cancer Society, to develop the Youth In CHARGe (YIC) initiative, funded by the American Legacy Foundation for a five-year period beginning in 2000. YIC was a statewide network of middle and high school youth teams formed in schools and other community-based organizations throughout Georgia working on tobacco use prevention issues. Over 50 YIC teams were established across the state to create tobacco-free generations by changing peer pressure and attitudes toward tobacco by: eliminating exposure to secondhand smoke; preventing youth from using tobacco; reducing youth access to tobacco products; and fighting tobacco industry marketing tactics through education, mobilization, and youth empowerment.

Beginning July 2001, the first appropriation of state MSA funds was made to the Georgia Tobacco Use Prevention Program totaling almost \$15.8 million. The largest portion, over \$5 million, was dedicated to counter-marketing. Additional funds were allocated to community and school programs (\$2.9 million), a Quit Line (\$2.25 million), surveillance and evaluation (\$800,000), as well as statewide training, technical assistance, and consultation, and overall support of best practice strategies at the state level. Tobacco prevention and control efforts were embedded in a broader health promotion initiative focused on healthy behaviors. This was due to the recognized relationship of risk factors such as physical inactivity, poor nutrition, and tobacco use to the development of a number of chronic diseases. With this funding, activities were extended statewide into every health district, each of which was able to engage staff to guide specific community tobacco interventions, as well as a more comprehensive chronic disease prevention effort.

Funding at this level was maintained over a four-year period, State Fiscal Years 02-04. After the initial year, MSA funding increased to \$20.8 million, which provided for a comprehensive, statewide tobacco prevention program. With the downturn in the economy, following 9/11, funding was reduced to \$14.7 million, with a further reduction in SFY 04 to \$11 million. In SFY 05 changes in the legislative agenda reduced the appropriation to \$2 million where it has remained.

#### The Present

The \$2 million core MSA funding has enabled TUPP to maintain the Quit line and support minimal local tobacco prevention activities. In addition to MSA funds, TUPP receives \$1.2 million from CDC to address the four goal areas of the tobacco prevention framework (\$967,000) and a Quit Line supplement (\$230,000). Georgia currently lacks the capacity to implement a comprehensive tobacco control program. This can be seen in the absence of a local advocacy structure to build on successes such as the Georgia Smoke-Free Air Act of 2005. Also lacking is a concerted prevention effort to address youth initiation, including counter marketing. Health promotion activities, which drove calls to the Quit Line, have been radically reduced. Quit Line call volume has dropped from a high of almost 23,000 at maximum funding to about 3,000 at current funding. Local staff that could devote full time efforts to tobacco prevention has decreased from 47 tobacco use prevention coordinators, to only 18 health promotion coordinators that are responsible for not only tobacco but also broader chronic disease health promotion activities.

Despite these challenges, adult tobacco use prevalence in Georgia has dropped from 24% (above the national average) in 2000, to 20% in 2007, which is below the national average. Some highlighted accomplishments include:

- Increase in excise tax on tobacco products from 12 cents to 37 cents
- Passage of the Smoke Free Air Act of 2005 prohibiting smoking in many public places.
- Imposition of tobacco surcharge for all state health benefit plan enrollees who use tobacco products.
- Adoption of 100% tobacco free school policies by 29 of 181 school systems.
- Inclusion of youth cessation services as a part of the Georgia Tobacco Quit Line.
- Launch Nicotine Replacement Therapy pilot in five high prevalence health districts.

#### RECOMMENDED PROGRAMS AND POLICIES

# **Programs**

As the nation has addressed tobacco use over past 45 years since the release of the landmark Surgeon General's report, comprehensive, sustained, and accountable tobacco control programs have been shown to reduce smoking rates, tobacco related deaths, and diseases caused by smoking. Research shows that the more states spend on comprehensive tobacco control programs and the longer they sustain the investment, the greater and faster the impacts are on reducing tobacco use. CDC recommends an estimated \$116.5 annually to mount such an effort in Georgia.

#### State and Community Interventions (\$8.5 million)

State experience has shown that state- and community-based interventions are the core of a tobacco control program. In the evidence-based review of population-based tobacco prevention and control intervention strategies, the Task Force on Community Preventive Services found the strongest evidence demonstrating the effectiveness of the most highly recommended strategies came from studies in which the interventions were integrated into synergistic and multi-component efforts. Building upon this evidence base, CDC recommends that tobacco control programs integrate statewide and local programs and policies for the general population and specific audiences, and reinforces grassroots support for social norm change. To prevent and reduce tobacco use, CDC recommends implementing population-based interventions with coordinated statewide efforts, community mobilization, a focus on identifying and eliminating disparities, and integration with youth and other chronic disease programs.

Comprehensive tobacco control programs should provide sufficient support for a community-based infrastructure through activities such as: funding for local health departments and community-based organizations, coalition building, strategic planning, providing education and promoting public discussion around effective policy interventions, and collaborating with other public health programs. When programs are funded at less than the CDC recommended level, state experience indicates that the efficiency of program impact can be increased by emphasizing the policy and social change aspects of these efforts. <sup>9,17-19</sup>

#### Specific recommendations are:

- I. Establish a mini-grant initiative. The goal of this program would be to provide funding to communities within the state to develop and strengthen collaborative, grassroots partnerships that focus on reducing tobacco utilization. An advisory board would establish the grant award parameters and criteria.
- II. Increase the number of school systems that adopt and implement 100% tobacco-free school policies. Increase excise tax on all tobacco products.
- III. Allocate funding to local community organizations to address social norms and behaviors related to tobacco use, thereby creating and fostering a nonsmoking culture.
- IV. Develop statewide initiatives that address tobacco-related health disparities.
- V. Expand access to cessation programs and services.

#### Health Communication Interventions (\$4.5 million)

Effective messages that are targeted appropriately can stimulate public support for tobacco control interventions and create a supportive climate for policy and programmatic community efforts and effectively lead to sustained social norm changes. <sup>9, 10, 20, 21</sup> However, to be effective, health communication interventions must have sufficient reach, frequency, and duration to increase awareness, impact attitudes, and ultimately influence behavior. Additionally, state programs should include audience and market research, grassroots promotions and media advocacy, evaluation, and promotion of the state's Quit Line service.

Based upon the relative cost of implementing paid televised media in the state of Georgia, CDC recommends that \$2.62 per capita be budgeted for a comprehensive health communication intervention that would promote cessation, prevention initiation, and educate the public about the importance of protecting nonsmokers from secondhand smoke exposure. However, when less than the total annual recommended funding is available, the latest evidence-based recommendations emphasize the importance of more efficient use of broadcast media and greater emphasis on media advocacy and local grassroots efforts.

#### Specific recommendations are:

- I. Augment and support the existing Georgia Tobacco Quit Line promotion, specifically by promoting increased access to and usage of the Quit Line. These efforts would include, but are not limited to: 1) utilizing frontline healthcare professionals to promote patient access to the Quit Line and 2) strengthening medical and other professional organization partnerships to enhance dissemination of tobacco cessation quit line resources.
- II. Enhance support of Tobacco Free Schools through youth advocacy initiatives. The hallmark of youth advocacy is that school-age children champion tobacco prevention message development and dissemination. The initiative would include the use of innovative and contemporary communication technologies (e.g., instant messaging, on line social networking) to promote

- advocacy to Georgia youths. Evidence suggests that the use of various types of media is very effective in promoting anti-tobacco campaigns. <sup>25</sup> The use of these communication technologies appeal to youth and would provide an innovative and effective anti-tobacco advocacy campaign.
- III. Strengthen and Promote Clean Indoor Air initiatives. Reinforce communication to worksites and public places that Clean Air legislation is enforceable by law.
- IV. Encourage health communications that foster a broad culture of 'health' within communities.
  Messages would touch upon various dimensions wellness, such as physical activity, clean air, etc

#### Cessation Interventions (\$4 million)

Helping current tobacco users quit is critical to reducing the risk of premature death and disability, short-term health care costs, and influencing social norms. <sup>9-13</sup> All patients that are seen in the health care system should be screened for tobacco use, receive brief interventions to help them quit, and be offered more intensive counseling services and FDA-approved cessation medications.

When the CDC recommended annual funding is available, states should budget for 6% Quit Line enrollment with a two-week course of NRT for insured callers and a four-week course of NRT to callers without insurance. However, when less than the CDC recommended funding is available, this effective service often needs to be limited in availability to increase the overall efficiency of program efforts since the cost-effectiveness of quit attempts resulting from price increases and smoke-free policies is much greater. <sup>21</sup>

# Specific recommendations are:

- I. Augment quit line capacity. The quit line is the cornerstone of cessation interventions and has demonstrable effectiveness. As of 2006, 27% of callers to the Georgia Tobacco Quit Line had not smoked at all within the past 30 days, consistent with other statewide telephone counseling services reported guit rates.<sup>5</sup>
- II. Expand Nicotine Replace Therapy [NRT] support for disparate populations. Georgia is 1 of 7 states with no coverage for NRT. Smoking rates are higher among Medicaid recipients, and in Georgia, 3-4% of the Medicaid population takes advantage of NRT. Provision of Medicaid coverage would increase call volume to the Quit Line.
- III. Promote adoption and implementation of brief cessation counseling among health care providers.

  Link disease management programs to Georgia Tobacco Quit Line.
- IV. Promote public and private health insurance coverage for cessation services.

# Surveillance and Evaluation (\$2 million)

A comprehensive tobacco control program must have a system of surveillance and evaluation that can monitor and document short-term, intermediate, and long-term intervention outcomes in the population to inform program and policy direction, as well as to ensure accountability to those with fiscal oversight. States are encouraged to bring on core surveillance activities early in program development. As a result, states working with budgets smaller than the CDC recommended level of investment may find that this component actually consumes a percentage of the total that is larger than 10%. This investment will assist states in establishing baseline data so that programs will be ready to initiate program activities when funding for interventions becomes available.

Specific evaluation recommendations are as follows:

- I. Expand existing surveys (e.g., expansion of the Youth Risk Behavior Survey and the Georgia Youth Tobacco Survey) to collect data from smaller, local counties. For example, the YRBS and GA Youth Tobacco Survey are not currently administered statewide. Also expand existing surveys to collect data regarding Quit Line promotion.
- II. Elicit qualitative data. Mixed methods of research yields rich insight which will inform future tobacco control opportunities.
- III. Expand complexity of analysis. Financial, risk, disparity analysis contribute to a greater understanding of comprehensive tobacco control impacts.

# Administration and Management (\$1 million)

Internal capacity within a state health department is essential for program sustainability, efficacy, and efficiency. State experience has shown the importance of having all of the program's components coordinated and working together; a function that occurs through the Administration and Management line. The limited funding that CDC is able to provide for the 50 states and the District of Columbia is most commonly used to help sustain this critical component. Because sufficient capacity is essential to maintain program infrastructure, this level of investment remains the suggested budgeting target for administration and management activities even if actual program funding is below the CDC-recommended amount.

Specific administration and management recommendations are to:

- Organize a state Advisory Committee to oversee comprehensive tobacco control plan development and implementation. Success of plan is contingent upon recognized leadership in clearly defining the scope of work and being accountable on every level of activity.
- II. Augment personnel. Although the Task Force has recommended extensive expansion of tobacco control efforts, 8 new positions have been identified:

#### Personnel

- Mini-grant manager: administration of grassroots grant initiative
- Epidemiologist: analyze statewide, county-level and local surveys
- 6 regional tobacco specialists (charged with overseeing approximately 3 districts each): seize opportunities to collaborate with local health promotion coordinators

# **POLICIES**

# Medicaid Reimbursement of Smoking Cessation

In 2006, 5.82% of Georgia's Medicaid expenditures, totaling \$537 million, were attributable to tobacco use. Currently, our Medicaid program covers no medications or counseling for their recipients to aid in quitting smoking. Georgia is one of only seven states that does not provide these life- and money-saving treatments to its Medicaid recipients. The 2008 update from the U.S. Public Health Service Clinical Practice Guideline, *Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence*, recommends seven types of medication; as well as individual, group and telephone counseling; as effective in helping people quit smoking. The combination of counseling and medication is more effective than either alone. Covering cessation programs through Medicaid is particularly important because the Medicaid population smokes at a much higher rate (34.8%) than the general adult population (20.8%). Medicaid pays for nearly 40% of the nation's births. Reducing smoking among low-income mothers reduces the number of low birth-weight births and related complications. These cost-savings can be seen in just nine months. For every \$1 spent helping a pregnant woman quit smoking, the state saves \$3 in the short term and \$6 in the long term. For every smoker that quits, savings in medical expenditures after one year total \$192. After five years the savings rise to \$986 per year. Georgia currently receives approximately \$5 for every \$3 invested in a Medicaid service. We urge state officials to invest in this service for our Medicaid population. In this instance, a little state spending can go a very long way.

#### Tobacco Tax Increase

The Georgia General Assembly should strongly consider increasing the excise tax on cigarettes by \$1.00. An increase in the tax rate would be beneficial to the state on several levels. First, the \$1.00 increase in the tax rate would generate an estimated \$612 million annually for the State of Georgia. Georgia currently ranks forty-third in the nation with a tax rate of \$0.37 per pack, missing out on a significant revenue stream. A small portion of the new revenue generated should subsequently be used to bolster the state's tobacco control program, which is currently funded at a level well below the most recent recommendations published by the Centers for Disease Control. Secondly, from a tobacco control standpoint, increasing the tax rate will reduce the smoking prevalence in Georgia. Studies indicate that for every 10% increase in the point-of-sale price of cigarettes, there is a corresponding 4% reduction in cigarette use in the general population. This impact is intensified with respect to the adolescent population, a group often targeted by big tobacco marketing campaigns. Finally, by increasing the cigarette tax, the state will force individuals that make the choice to smoke to take responsibility for their actions by directly bearing the cost of their habit. The State of Georgia

spends \$537 million annually through Medicaid in the treatment of smoking related illnesses.<sup>4</sup> The bottom line is that for many reasons, increasing the tobacco tax is an integral part of an effective tobacco control program in the State of Georgia.

#### Clean Indoor Air Law

In 2006, the Surgeon General issued a report: *The Health Consequences of Involuntary Exposure to Tobacco Smoke*. <sup>24</sup> The report revealed that:

- 1. Secondhand smoke (SHS) causes premature death in persons who do not smoke
- 2. Children exposed to SHS are at risk for asthma, SIDS, ear problems
- 3. SHS causes lung cancer and coronary heart disease
- 4. There is no risk-free level of exposure to secondhand smoke
- 5. Millions of Americans are still exposed to secondhand smoke in their homes and workplaces
- 6. Eliminating smoking in indoor spaces fully protects nonsmokers from exposure to secondhand smoke. Separating smokers from nonsmokers, cleaning the air and ventilating buildings cannot eliminate exposure.

In 2005 the Georgia Legislature passed the Georgia Smokefree Air Act of 2005 restricting smoking in most public places. While the law greatly improved the situation in Georgia, it still allowed restaurants and bars to allow smoking as long as children under the age of 18 were not admitted, and also under a number of other exceptions. These exceptions have resulted in less than complete protection from exposure to secondhand smoke for Georgians, particularly for bar and restaurant workers who continue to work in venues where smoking is still allowed. Research conducted by the Institute of Public Health found that approximately 10 percent of Georgia restaurants and bars still allow smoking and have no intention of changing their current practices. Since secondhand smoke is considered a Class A carcinogen by the Environmental Protection Agency and there is no safe level of exposure, the Task Force recommends the Georgia Smokefree Air Act of 2005 be strengthened so as to prohibit smoking in all indoor public areas without exception. Without a comprehensive law with strong enforcement, children, hospitality workers and the general public will continue to be involuntarily exposed to a real and measurable cancer risk.

#### **BUDGET AND IMPLEMENTATION COSTS**

The following chart presents the proposed tobacco prevention and education programs and the respective budgets. The proposed budget of \$20 million is modest and well below the CDC recommended annual investment for GA of \$116.5. This amount is less than what was spent 6 years ago; however, it represents a substantial improvement over current spending. Evidence from similar state-based tobacco control program has quantifiably demonstrated a 50:1 return on investments ratio in tobacco control to health care savings. In 2006, California's investment of \$1.8 billon yielded a return of \$86 billion in health care savings.

Specific Programs	Recommended Budget (in millions)
State and Community Interventions	\$ 8.5
Health Communication Interventions	\$ 4.5
Cessation Interventions	\$ 4
Surveillance and Evaluation	\$ 2
Administration and Management	\$ 1
Total	\$ 20

#### **SUMMARY**

Georgia has before it the unique opportunity to use funds intended to prevent tobacco use to save the lives of untold thousands of its citizens. Georgia citizens suffer a disproportionate burden from diseases caused by smoking and there are scientifically documented programs and policies that will reduce tobacco use, disease and associated health care costs. The Georgia Tobacco Task Force is recommending that a budget of \$20 million for tobacco control be re-established in the state and that these funds be invested in evidence-based policies and programs as outlined by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Based upon these CDC guidelines, Georgia needs to invest \$166.5 million annually to fund all the components of a comprehensive tobacco prevention and control program at the level of population coverage recommended by CDC. Though the Task Force's recommended investment is substantially less than that of CDC, research has shown that states which invest at less than the CDC recommended level can still impact youth and adult smoking rates, albeit at a slower rate of change and a need for a maintained investment to achieve the projected impact on health care costs. With an investment of \$20 million per year in Georgia, or about \$2 per capita, an impact can be achieved and will place Georgia on the right path to permanently reduce tobacco use in the state and to serve as a model for other Southern states.

#### **REFERENCES**

- CDC. Sustaining State Programs for Tobacco Control: Data Highlights 2006. Atlanta: CDC,OSH, 2006
- 2. Georgia Department of Human Resources
- 3. CDC. Cigarette smoking-Attributable Morbidity—United States, 2000. MMWR 2003;52(35):842-44.
- 4. Georgia Cancer Coalition. Georgia's Comprehensive Cancer Control Plan, 2008-2012.
- 5. Georgia Tobacco Quit Line Preliminary Evaluation Report.
- 6. Georgia Tobacco Surveillance Report.
- 7. 2005 Georgia Youth Tobacco Survey Report.
- 8. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Reducing Tobacco Use: A Report of the Surgeon General*. Atlanta: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; 2000.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Best Practices for Comprehensive Tobacco Control Programs—2007. Atlanta: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; October 2007.
- 10. Zaza S, Briss PA, Harris KW, editors. *The Guide to Community Preventive Services: What Works to Promote Health?* New York: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- 11. Institute of Medicine. *Ending the Tobacco Problem: A Blueprint for the Nation*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2007.
- 12. National Institutes of Health. NIH State-of-the-Science Conference Statement on Tobacco Use: Prevention, Cessation, and Control. *Annals of Internal Medicine*; 2006:145:839-844.
- 13. National Cancer Institute. Tobacco use prevention and treatment. In: *Promoting Healthy Lifestyles: Policy, Program, and Personal Recommendations for Reducing Cancer Risk—2006–2007 Annual Report, President's Cancer Panel*. Bethesda, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute; 2007:61-92
- 14. Farrelly MC, Pechacek TP, Chaloupka FJ. The impact of tobacco control program expenditures on aggregate cigarette sales: 1981-2000. *Journal of Health Economics* 2003;22(5):843–859.
- 15. Tauras JA, Chaloupka FJ, Farrelly MC, Giovino GA, Wakefield M, Johnston LD, et al. State tobacco control spending and youth smoking. *American Journal of Public Health* 2005;954(2):338–344.
- 16. Farrelly MC, Pechacek TF, Thomas KY, Nelson D. The impact of tobacco control programs on adult smoking. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2008;98(2):304-309.
- 17. National Cancer Institute. *ASSIST: Shaping the Future of Tobacco Prevention and Control.* Tobacco Control Monograph No. 16. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 2005. NIH Pub No.05-5645.
- 18. National Cancer Institute. *Evaluating ASSIST: A Blueprint for Understanding State-level Tobacco Control*. Tobacco Control Monograph No. 17. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 2006. NIH Pub. No. 06-6058.
- 19. Mueller NB, Luke DA, Herbers SH, Montgomery TP. The best practices: use of the guidelines by ten state tobacco control programs. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2006;31(4):300–306.
- 20. National Cancer Institute. *The Role of the Media in Promoting and Reducing Tobacco Use.* Tobacco Control Monograph No. 19. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 2008. NIH Pub No. 07-6282.
- 21. Wakefield MA, Durkin S, Spittal MJ, Siahpush M, Scollo M, Heath C, Simpson JA, Chapman S, White V, Hill D. Impact of tobacco control policies and mass media campaigns on monthly adult smoking prevalence. *American Journal of Public Health* 2008;98:1443-50.
- 22. Maciosek MV et al. Priorities among effective clinical preventive services. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2006;31(1):52-61.
- 23. Lighwood JM, Dinno A, Glantz SA. Effect of the California Tobacco Control Program on personal health care expenditures. *PLoS Medicine* 2008;5(8):e178.
- 24. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *The Health Consequences of Involuntary Exposure to Tobacco Smoke*. Atlanta: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; 2000.
- 25. National Cancer Institute. *The Role of the Media in Promoting and Reducing Tobacco Use.* Tobacco Control Monograph No. 19. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health; 2008. NIH Pub. No. 07-6242.

# **Georgia Tobacco Task Force Members**

Task Force members and their representative organizations are noted for identification purposes; however, the conclusions of the report do not necessarily represent the official positions of the organizations.

Bill Burns, J.D.
Georgia Advocacy Director
American Heart Association
1101 Northchase Parkway, Suite 101
Marietta, GA 30067
678.224.2085
bill.burns@heart.org

Eryn Marchiolo MPH, CHES Health Promotion Coordinator DeKalb County Board of Health 445 Winn Way, PO Box 987 Decatur, GA 30031 emmarchiolo@dhr.state.ga.us

June Deen
Director of Advocacy
American Lung Association of Georgia and South Carolina
2452 Spring Road
Smyrna, GA 30080
770.434.5864 / 770.544.0520 direct line
ideen@alase.org

Michael Eriksen, ScD Professor and Director Institute of Public Health Georgia State University Urban Life Building 140 Decatur Street Atlanta, GA 30303 404.413.1132 meriksen@gsu.edu

Sandra Glaze
Staff Attorney
Georgia Public Interest Research Group (GA PIRG)
741 Piedmont Avenue, N.E., Second Floor
Atlanta, Georgia 30308
404.892.3405
sglaze@georgiapirg.org

James Hotz, MD
Medical Director, Southwest Georgia Cancer Coalition
Clinical Services Director at Albany Area Primary Healthcare
204 W. Over Road
Albany, GA
229.888.6559
jimhotzmd@aol.com

Terry F. Pechacek, PhD Centers for Disease Control Associate Director for Science Office on Smoking and Health Mail Stop K-50 4770 Buford Highway, NE Atlanta, GA 30341 txp2@cdc.gov

Kimberly Redding, MD, MPH
Senior Director
Office of Healthy Behaviors
Georgia Department of Human Resources
Division of Public Health
2 Peachtree Street NW, Suite 16-220
Atlanta, GA
404.656.2480
kredding@dhr.state.ga.us

Kymberle Sterling, DrPH Assistant Professor Institute of Public Health Georgia State University 140 Decatur Street Atlanta, GA 30303 404-413-1129 ksterling@gsu.edu

Sheryl Strasser, PhD Assistant Professor Institute of Public Health Georgia State University 140 Decatur Street Atlanta, GA 30303 404-413-1134 sstrasser@gsu.edu

Brenda Wright
American Cancer Society
250 Williams Street
Atlanta, GA 30303
404.315.1123
Brenda.Wright@cancer.org